RECEIVED

MAY 08 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master-In-Equity and Special Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-000242

Robert E. Feldman and Lois J. Feldman. Appellants,

vs.

Gary P. Coggin, Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

PENDARVIS LAW OFFICES, P.C.
Thomas A. Pendarvis (SC Bar # 064918)
Christopher W. Lempeis, Jr. (SC Bar #77012)
710 Boundary Street, Suite 1-A
Beaufort, SC 29902
843.524.9500 Tel.
Thomas@PendarvisLaw.com
Chris@PendarvisLaw.com

Counsel for Appellants, Robert E. Feldman and Lois
J. Feldman

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment:

- A. before the evidentiary record was developed and before discovery was complete?
- B. despite evidence in the record creating genuine issues of material fact in dispute, including genuine issues of material fact concerning proximate cause on Appellants' legal malpractice claim?
- C. despite an affidavit filed pursuant to Rule 56(f), SCRCPC, providing multiple reasons flowing from the incomplete discovery why Appellants were not able to present by affidavit or other testimony facts essential to justify Appellants' opposition to the motion?
- D. when the two-sentence Order granting summary judgment omitted any reference to evidence in the record creating disputed questions of fact on whether Respondent's professional errors proximately causing a diminution the settlement value of Appellants' underlying UIM claims?
- E. despite the deposition testimony of Respondent admitting that he did not possess and did not submit evidence in the underlying case to establish service of process on the defendant before the expiration of the statute of limitations?
- F. despite the sworn testimony contained in the allegation of fact in the Verified Complaint creating disputed questions of fact on causation issues?
- G. despite the affidavit of an expert filed with the Verified Complaint opining on negligent acts on behalf of Respondent that proximately caused damages to Appellants?
- H. when the two-sentence Order granting summary judgment omitted any findings of fact and specific conclusions of law forming the basis for the judgment?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order granting summary judgment in favor of Respondent, Gary P. Coggin (“Mr. Coggin”) and an order denying the motion to alter or amend the order granting summary judgment on legal malpractice claims brought by Appellants, Robert E. Feldman and Lois J. Feldman (“the Feldmans”). Those claims are based on Mr. Coggin’s errors in handling the Feldmans’ underinsured motorist claims against an at-fault driver who caused substantial personal injuries to the Feldmans.

On May 19, 2015, the Feldmans filed a Summons and Verified Complaint with an expert affidavit alleging legal malpractice on the part of Mr. Coggin arising from Mr. Coggin’s representation of the Feldmans in the case styled *Robert Feldman & Lois Feldman vs. Sarah Dickenson*, C.A. # 2012-CP-07-3800 (“the Underlying Lawsuit”). (R. ____, Verified Compl., ¶¶ 45, 52). The Verified Complaint filed in this legal malpractice suit stated claims for damages in excess of \$500,000, the policy limits of the Feldmans’ UIM policy, and the pleadings were based on the information available and “by other such particulars as the evidence in this case may demonstrate.”

On August 20, 2015, Mr. Coggin filed and served an Answer to the Verified Complaint. (R. ____, Answer). On March 9, 2016, Mr. Coggin filed a Request for a Scheduling Order. (R. ____, Resp. Request for Scheduling Order). On March 18, 2016, the Feldmans filed a Response to the Request for a Scheduling Order. (R. ____, App. Response to Request for Scheduling Order). On March 25, 2016, Mr. Coggin filed a reply to the Response to the Request for a Scheduling Order. (R. ____, Resp. Reply to Response to Request for Scheduling Order).

On May 16, 2016, Mr. Coggin filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, based on “the pleadings, *depositions*, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file show that there is no

genuine issue as to any material fact . . .” and “. . . on the . . . pleadings and *discovery in this action* . . .” Mr. Coggin’s motion argued that, as a matter of law, there was no proximate cause of damage based on the Feldmans’ *pleadings* of Mr. Coggin’s negligence in the Verified Complaint. (R. ____, Motion for Summary Judgment (“MSJ”), dated May 16, 2016).

On June 8, 2016, the Feldmans took the deposition of Mr. Coggin. (R. ____, Coggin Depo. dated June 8, 2016, with exhibits).

On June 17, 2016, the trial court entered a Scheduling Order requiring discovery to be completed not later than December 1, 2016, and a trial date not before January 1, 2017. (R. ____, Scheduling Order).

On June 22, 2016, Mr. Coggin filed a Memorandum in Support of his Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. ____, Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment). Mr. Coggin’s memorandum in support of the motion for summary judgment argued that if Mr. Coggin “did in fact fail to serve the at-fault driver, such failure would not have affected the underlying UIM case in any way . . .” (R. ____, Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, p.2). Mr. Coggin’s argument for summary judgment was centered on the concept that “. . .even if Attorney Coggin did breach the standard of care by failing to serve the at-fault driver, that breach did not proximately cause the Plaintiffs to suffer any damages. (R. ____, Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, pp.1-2).

On June 27, 2016, the Feldmans filed and served a Memorandum in Opposition to Mr. Coggin’s Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. ____, Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment), referring to the Rule 56(f), SCRCF, Affidavit of Thomas A. Pendarvis, which itself was filed on June 28, 2016. (R. ____, Rule 56(f), Affidavit). The Rule 56(f) affidavit explained

the status of discovery, the plans for additional depositions well within the deadlines set in the Scheduling Order, and requested the hearing on Mr. Coggin's motion be delayed until discovery was completed as per the Scheduling Order. (R. ____, Rule 56(f), Affidavit).

The Rule 56(f) affidavit specifically noted that the "question of proximate cause of the damages suffered by Plaintiffs is in dispute, as Plaintiffs contend that Defendant Coggin's failures to properly serve the at-fault driver, and to properly prepare the case for settlement, mediation and trial, resulted in Plaintiffs losing valuable rights," (R. ____, Rule 56(f), Affidavit, ¶15). The Rule 56(f) affidavit also stated, "Depending on the outcome of pending discovery, the Plaintiffs may seek to amend their Verified Complaint to include additional specific allegations of legal malpractice, based on Defendant Coggin's failures to secure a life care plan expert, a vocational expert and an expert to reduce the damages to present value, which separately and/or together resulted in Plaintiffs losing valuable rights, including diminution in the settlement value of the case. (R. ____, Rule 56(f), Affidavit, ¶17).

On June 29, 2016, Mr. Coggin's Motion for Summary Judgment was heard before the Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III. During the hearing, counsel for the Feldmans explained what was expected to be developed during discovery as follows:

In May of '14, the parties participated in mediation. We believe there is going to be testimony based on the beginnings of discovery with Mr. Coggin and others that the case was not prepared for settlement. They went into -- and we believe that Julian Allen is going to testify that had the case been properly prepared there would have been a substantially greater settlement offer at the mediation.

So even if -- even if Liberty Mutual's defense was invalid or improper or wouldn't have been successful as a matter of law, they hadn't filed the motion. They went to a mediation with authority to settle. And we believe Julian Allen is going to say had Mr. Coggin presented a life care plan that he admitted he didn't do, and other information to

substantiate wage loss, incapacity or damage from the connection causally linking the medical expenses to the car wreck that he brought, you know, the reason for the case, the testimony had not been developed by the doctors or a life care plan person or anyone of that sort that could quantify and put a settlement value on the Feldmans' claims.

Going into the mediation there were demands for policy limits by Mr. Coggin. And what we believe that discovery will reveal from Mr. Julian Allen is the case would have settled or a substantially greater amount of money would have been put on the table at a mediation nine months before any hearing on the motion.

And so under the *Sims* case and some other authority I'm happy to provide the Court, there is a claim on the settlement value of the case that is factually related regardless of whether at a hearing on the merits of the legal matter the Plaintiffs would have lost or won.

And so, you know, as to settlement value and what we also expect, there were lawyers – Sam Bauer and Rob Metro. Their deposition haven't been taken yet, but we believe they are going to say based on the age of the case when they took it over and the matter was on a trial docket and there was communications with Mr. Coggin to the Feldmans before he moved to be relieved that this case was coming up for trial.

And we believe the testimony from Mr. Bauer and Mr. Metro is going to be there wasn't sufficient time to get the case ready. The statute had already run. They couldn't dismiss it and refile it, so they recommended that the Feldmans take the 25,000 to settle.

And so the real essence of the malpractice was failure to prepare the case. It would have settled at mediation. And so we believe that those factual issues are going to preclude any ruling as a matter of law on whether or not Liberty's Motion for Summary Judgment would have been successful.

(R. ____, Hearing transcript, dated June 29, 2016, 11:12-13:20).

On July 11, 2016, the Feldmans filed a Supplemental Memorandum in Opposition to Mr. Coggin's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. ____, Supplemental Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment). On July 19, 2016, the Feldmans filed a Motion for Leave to File

Verified Amended Complaint. (R. ____, Motion for Leave to File Verified Amended Complaint) (hereinafter “Motion to Amend”). On July 28, 2016, Mr. Coggin filed a Reply to Appellant’s Supplemental Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. ____, Resp. Reply to Supplemental Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment). On August 1, 2016, the Feldmans filed a sur-reply to Mr. Coggin’s Reply to Appellant’s Supplemental Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. ____, App. Sur-Reply to Supplemental Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment). On September 7, 2016, Mr. Coggin filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Appellant’s Motion to Amend. (R. ____, Resp. Memorandum in Opposition to Motion to Amend). On September 8, 2016, Appellant’s Motion to Amend was heard before the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, wherein the trial court acknowledged that leave to amend should be freely given. At the hearing, however, the trial court refused to rule or to issue an order on the Motion to Amend.

The next day, on September 9, 2016, the Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III, issued a two-sentence Order granting Mr. Coggin’s motion for summary judgment, which is the subject of this appeal. (R. ____, Order Granting Motion For Summary Judgment) (hereinafter “Summary Judgment Order”). Even if the fully developed factual record was available after discovery was complete, which it was not, for the trial court to grant summary judgment on the proximate cause issue, there could be not even a scintilla of evidence to support an inference that Mr. Coggin’s actions and/or omissions resulted in damages to the Feldmans. As discussed throughout this brief, the Feldmans raised evidence to the trial court’s attention that suggested directly and supported interferences that Mr. Coggin’s actions and inactions diminished the settlement value of the case. Despite clear evidence and inferences that should have been drawn from such evidence, even where

discovery was incomplete, the trial court committed errors of law by granting summary judgment to Mr. Coggin and failing to alter or amend the order granting summary judgment.

On September 13, 2016, counsel for the Feldmans requested an Order from the trial court as to the Motion to Amend. (R. ____, Email to trial court clerk). This request for an Order was renewed on September 14, 2016. (R. ____, Second Email to trial court clerk).

On September 19, 2016, the Feldmans filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment as to the Summary Judgment Order. (R. ____, Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment) (hereinafter “Motion to Reconsider”).

On September 22, 2016, via email the trial court again declined to issue a ruling on the Motion to Amend. (R. ____, Reply Email from trial court clerk).

On October 3, 2016, Mr. Coggin filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Appellant’s Motion to Alter or Amend. (R. ____, Memorandum in Opposition to Motion to Reconsider).

On December 12, 2016, the Feldmans’ Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment was heard before the Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III. On January 6, 2016, Appellant forwarded a proposed Order to the trial which, if issued, would have granted the Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment. (R. ____, App. letter to Judge Dukes with proposed Order). On January 10, 2017, Mr. Coggin filed a Supplemental Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion to Alter or Amend, addressing the January 6, 2016 proposed order forwarded to the trial court. (R. ____, Supplemental Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion to Alter or Amend).

On January 27, 2017, the trial court issued an Order denying the Feldmans’ Motion to Alter or Amend. (R. ____, Order denying Motion to Alter or Amend, dated January 27, 2017) (hereinafter “Order Denying Motion to Reconsider”).

On February 1, 2017, the Feldmans timely filed and served their Notice of Appeal, seeking reversal of the trial court's Summary Judgment Order, the Order Denying Motion to Reconsider, and the trial court's refusal to issue an order on Appellant's Motion to Amend. (R. ____, Notice of Appeal). On March 14, 2017, the Feldmans filed and served an Amended Notice of Appeal seeking reversal of the Summary Judgment Order and the Order Denying Motion to Reconsider. (R. ____, Amended Notice of Appeal).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Feldmans' legal malpractice claims are based on Mr. Coggin's errors in handling the Feldmans' underinsured motorist claims against the at-fault driver who caused substantial personal injuries to the Feldmans. According to the sworn testimony of Appellant's expert, Mr. Coggin's failures directly caused Mr. and Mrs. Feldman to lose the \$500,000 in available UIM coverage. Disputed questions of fact were also in the record to show that Mr. Coggin's failures directly caused Mr. and Mrs. Feldman to lose *at least* all but \$25,000 of the settlement value of their claims in the Underlying Lawsuit. This legal malpractice case seeks damages from Mr. Coggin as compensation for the lost settlement value Mr. and Mrs. Feldman suffered as a result of Mr. Coggin's negligence.

On October 9, 2010, the at-fault driver, Sarah Dickenson, failed to control her vehicle, colliding with Mr. Feldman's vehicle and causing Mr. Feldman to sustain substantial personal injuries, medical expenses, lost wages, pain and suffering; and giving rise to loss of consortium claims in favor of Mr. Feldman's wife, Appellant, Lois J. Feldman. (R. ____, Verified Compl., ¶¶9-10); (R. ____, Complaint in *Feldman and Feldman v. Dickenson*, 2012-CP-07-3800, filed on October 29, 2012) (hereinafter "Underlying Complaint"). Four days later Mr. Coggin came to the Feldmans' home and entered a contract to represent the Feldmans on their personal injury and loss of

consortium claims against Sarah Dickenson. (R. ____, Verified Compl., ¶8).

During the representation Mr. Coggin sent demand letters to Dickenson's carrier making demands for payment of \$1,550,000, which Mr. Coggin stated as being "very reasonable" based on Mr. Feldman's medical bills, financial losses, and loss of enjoyment of life. (R. ____, Coggin letter to carrier, dated Oct. 17, 2011, Ex. 4 to Coggin Depo. dated June 8, 2016).

Although Dickenson's liability was never disputed, although Coggin later admitted that Mr. Feldman's medical special damages exceeded \$100,000. (R. ____, Coggin Depo., dated June 8, 2016, 94:3-4); (R. ____ Coggin letter to mediator, dated May 5, 2014, Ex. 9 to Coggin Depo. dated June 8, 2016), and although Dickenson had \$100,000 in liability coverage, in September of 2012, Coggin settled the Feldmans' claims with Dickenson's carrier for only \$85,000. (R. ____, Verified Compl., ¶15); (R. ____, Coggin Depo. dated June 8, 2016, 39:1-7). To get the Feldmans' consent to settle for only \$85,000 of Dickenson's \$100,000 liability coverage, Mr. Coggin assured the Feldmans that he would recover the available \$500,000 in UIM coverage under the Feldmans' policy issued by Liberty Mutual Insurance ("Liberty"). (R. ____, Verified Compl., ¶14).

On October 29, 2012, approximately two years into the representation, Mr. Coggin filed the Underlying Lawsuit against Dickenson to pursue the Feldmans' underinsured coverage. (R. ____, Complaint in *Feldman and Feldman v. Dickenson*, 2012-CP-07-3800, filed on October 29, 2012); (R. ____, Verified Compl., ¶6); (R. ____, Coggin Depo. dated June 8, 2016, 43:13-19). On November 29, 2012, Mr. Coggin provided copies of the suit papers to the Department of Insurance, which in turn provided those documents to Liberty. (R. ____, Verified Compl., ¶17); (R. ____, Coggin Depo. dated June 8, 2016, 44:4-14).

October 9, 2013 was the statute of limitations date that applied the Feldmans' claims against

Dickenson. (R. ____, Coggin Depo. dated June 8, 2016, 63:11-25). Mr. Coggin admitted that the Underlying Lawsuit would not have been commenced per the Rules of Civil Procedure was process not served on Dickenson prior to October 10, 2013. (R. ____, Coggin Depo. dated June 8, 2016, 64:1-8, 64:20-25).

Mr. Coggin testified at length about his efforts to have Dickenson served with process in the Underlying Lawsuit. (R. ____, Coggin Depo. dated June 8, 2016, 47:2-61:22).

Notwithstanding his knowledge of the Rules of Civil Procedure that require filing of proof of service, Mr. Coggin admitted that he did not ever file an affidavit of service or any other documents showing Dickenson had been served with process in the Underlying Lawsuit. (R. ____, Coggin Depo. dated June 8, 2016, 61:8-22; 63:7-10).

On January 7, 2013, counsel for Liberty filed an Answer including an affirmative defense that "... Plaintiff has failed to effectuate proper service under Rule 12(b)(4) and Rule 12(b)(5)." (R. ____, Liberty Answer in *Feldman and Feldman v. Dickenson*, 2012-CP-07-3800, filed on January 7, 2013); (R. ____, Coggin Depo. dated June 8, 2016, 53:14-18, 54:4-6, 62:18-63:10).

Although the parties attended mediation on or around May 7, 2014, (R. ____, Coggin Depo. dated June 8, 2016, 71:18-19), during which the Feldmans' opening offer was \$525,000. (R. ____, Coggin Depo. dated June 8, 2016, 72:14-21). The Feldmans rejected Liberty's highest offer of \$25,000, and the mediation concluded with the parties at an impasse. (R. ____, Coggin Depo. dated June 8, 2016, 74:19-77:3).

Apparently, in or around September of 2014, defense counsel in the Underlying Lawsuit advised Mr. Coggin of plans to file a motion to dismiss based on Mr. Coggin's failure to serve Dickenson with process, and extended on behalf of Liberty a \$25,000 offer to settle. (R. ____,

Verified Compl., ¶ 31). On or around September 15, 2014, Mr. Coggin sent the Feldmans a letter advising them to settle the matter for \$25,000.00 and seek other counsel. (R. ____, Coggin letter to Feldman, dated Sept. 15, 2014, 2014, Ex. 10 to Coggin Depo. dated June 8, 2016). On September 16, 2014, Mr. Coggin filed a Motion to Withdraw As Counsel. (R. ____, Verified Compl., ¶ 32); (R. ____, Coggin Depo. dated June 8, 2016, 130:9-13). The Feldmans were able to find substitute counsel who attempted to secure an affidavit of service on Dickenson from Mr. Coggin, however, Mr. Coggin could not and has never been able to provide an affidavit of service for Dickenson. (R. ____, Verified Compl., ¶ 35-36); (R. ____, Coggin Depo. dated June 8, 2016, 120-121, 127:17-23, 132:9-11, 142:14-18).

On October 8, 2014, Liberty filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(4) and (5), SCRC.P. (R. ____, Liberty Motion to Dismiss, Ex. 13 to Coggin Depo. dated June 8, 2016). Although he had been relieved as counsel for the Feldmans, Mr. Coggin appeared at the January 6, 2015, hearing on Liberty's motion to dismiss, argued The Honorable Earnest Kinard, Jr., on behalf of the Feldmans to oppose the motion, and filed an affidavit in opposition to the motion. (R. ____, Coggin Affidavit, Ex. 16 to Coggin Depo. dated June 8, 2016); (R. ____, Coggin Depo. dated June 8, 2016, 130:19-131:19). In response, the trial court directed Mr. Coggin to get an affidavit from someone with personal knowledge that service had been accomplished, and specifically, the process server, in order to oppose the motion to dismiss. (R. ____, Coggin Depo. dated June 8, 2016, 133:22-134:4); (Transcript from hearing on Jan. 6, 2015, Ex. 19 to Coggin Depo. dated June 8, 2016).

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