THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
In The Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-000242

Trial Court Case No. 2015-CP-07-01251

RECEIVED

AUG 31 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Robert E. Feldman and Louis J. Feldman Appellants,

v.

Gary P. Coggin Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

M. Dawes Cooke, Jr.
Jeffrey M. Bogdan
Barnwell Whaley Patterson & Helms, LLC
P. O. Drawer H
Charleston, SC 29402
(843) 577-7700
Attorneys for Respondent

Dated: August 28, 2017
Charleston, South Carolina

Other Counsel of Record
Thomas A. Pendarvis
Christopher W. Lempesis, Jr.
Pendarvis Law Offices, P.C.

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

As stated above, in this legal malpractice action, Appellants sued their former attorney alleging that he breached the standard of care during his representation of them by failing to serve the alleged at-fault driver with the summons and complaint in the UIM Action. While the question of whether Attorney Coggin did in fact serve the alleged at-fault driver with the summons and complaint would be a jury issue, that question was not pertinent to his Motion for Summary Judgment or to this appeal because, even if Attorney Coggin did breach the standard of care by failing to serve the at-fault driver, that breach did not proximately cause the Appellants to suffer any damages. If Attorney Coggin did in fact fail to serve the at-fault driver, such failure would not have affected the UIM Action in any way, because under clearly established law the defendant in that case waived its right to use failure to effect service and the statute of limitations as defenses by failing to allege in what way service was improper or even who was not properly served. The law was very clear that a defendant could not vaguely assert improper service in his answer and hope that the plaintiff would not figure out what the claimed defect was until after

the statute of limitations had run, as Liberty Mutual did in the UIM Action. Unisun Ins. v. Hawkins, 342 S.C. 537, 537 S.E.2d 559.

In order to prevail in an action for legal malpractice, a plaintiff must prove: (1) the existence of any attorney-client relationship; (2) breach of a duty by the attorney; (3) damage to the plaintiff; and (4) proximate causation of the plaintiff's damages by the breach. Harris Teeter, Inc. v. Moore & Van Allen, PLLC, 390 S.C. 275, 282, 701 S.E.2d 742, 745 (2010); Holy Loch Distributors, Inc. v. Hitchcock, 340 S.C. 20, 26, 531 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2000).

The proximate causation element requires the plaintiffs to prove that they "most probably" would have realized a better result in the underlying case if not for the defendant's breach of the standard of care. "[A] plaintiff must show she most probably would have been successful in the underlying suit if the attorney had not committed the alleged malpractice." Summer v. Carpenter, 328 S.C. 36, 42, 492 S.E.2d 55, 58 (1997). "The question of the success of the underlying claim, if suit had been brought, is a question of law." Doe v. Howe, 367 S.C. 432, 442, 626 S.E.2d 25, 30 (Ct. App. 2005).

Here, to prove causation based on Attorney Coggin's alleged failure to serve Dickenson within the statute of limitations, the Appellants were required to prove that Liberty Mutual's motion to dismiss the UIM Action was meritorious, which would have then made the Appellants acceptance of Liberty Mutual's diminished \$25,000 settlement offer reasonable. Despite seven separate submissions, including their Appellate Brief, and two oral arguments, Appellants have not argued that Liberty Mutual's motion to dismiss had any merit or any real effect on the UIM Action or its settlement value.

Even if Attorney Coggin never served Ms. Dickenson, which Attorney Coggin denies, the motion to dismiss the UIM Action had absolutely no merit and would have had to have been

denied had the Appellants allowed it to be decided. The motion to dismiss was doomed because Liberty Mutual waived the right to challenge the service of process on Dickenson and the right to raise a statute of limitations defense by not properly including them in its Answer to the UIM Action and by actively defending the UIM Action for almost two years while staying silent as to the service issue. Accordingly, Appellants cannot prove the proximate cause element of a legal malpractice case, as a matter of law, and the trial court properly granted Attorney Coggin summary judgment.

A. The Motion to Dismiss the UIM Action was Meritless Because Liberty Mutual Failed to Properly Include a Rule 12(b)(4) Affirmative Defense for Insufficiency of Process or a Rule 12(b)(5) Affirmative Defense for Insufficiency of Service of Process

Rule 12(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure requires a defendant to assert an affirmative defense for “insufficiency of process” (Rule 12(b)(4)) and “insufficiency of service of process” (Rule 12(b)(5)) in its initial responsive pleading or motion. Rule 12(h) states that the Rule 12(b)(4) insufficiency of process defense and the Rule 12(b)(5) insufficiency of service of process defense are waived unless they are so pled. See also Garner v. Houck, 312 S.C. 481, 487, 435 S.E. 2d 847, 850 (1993) (holding that a defendant must raise issues regarding service of process in its initial responsive pleading/motion, or else defendant cannot later claim that any alleged improper or insufficient process or service supports a dispositive motion).

The Court of Appeals of South Carolina clarified the pleading requirement for insufficiency of service of process in its opinion in Unisun Ins. v. Hawkins, 342 S.C. 537, 537 S.E.2d 559. In Unisun, the plaintiffs failed to make proper service on the defendant Bruce Hawkins, but the defendant’s answer stated by way of affirmative defense only that “Plaintiffs have failed to serve defendant Bruce Hawkins within the three-year statute of limitations.” Id. at 539, 435 S.E.2d at 560. Defendant Bruce Hawkins later moved for summary judgment, arguing

that he was never properly served with the summons and complaint. The circuit court granted the motion, finding that plaintiffs failed to properly serve him. Id. at 539-40, 435 S.E.2d at 561-61. The Court of Appeals reversed, finding that the language defendant Bruce Hawkins included in his affirmative defense was insufficient to raise the Rule 12(b)(5) affirmative defense of insufficiency of service of process, because the pleading “failed to specify any defects in the service of process.” Id. at 542-43, 435 S.E.2d at 562. The Court of Appeals found that defendant Bruce Hawkins “failed to allege process with even a minimal amount of specificity in his responsive pleading” and, thus, he waived the defense as well as a statute of limitations defense premised on the insufficient service. Id. See also Poston v. Davis, 2009 WL 9528768 (Ct. App. March 30, 2009) (finding that the defenses of insufficiency of service of process and statute of limitations are affirmative defenses which are waived if not properly plead in the responsive pleading); H. Lightsey, Jr. & J. Flanagan, South Carolina Civil Procedure 100 (“Challenges to the method of service of process [must] assert that service was not accomplished according to the rules or statutes. Any objection under these rules should specify why the rule was not satisfied.”).

The reasoning of courts interpreting the analogous Federal Rules of Civil Procedure are also instructive, as Federal Rules 12(b)(4), 12(b)(5), and 12(h) are substantively identical to their South Carolina counterparts.⁴ Various federal courts across the country have analyzed this issue and concluded that, in order to challenge service of process, a defendant’s initial answer or motion must not merely raise the 12(b)(4) and/or 12(b)(5) affirmative defense, but must do so with such specificity to point out in what manner the process was flawed or how plaintiff failed to properly serve process. O’Brien v. R.J. O’Brien & Assocs. 998 F.2d 1394, 1400 (7th Cir.

⁴ See Roberts v. Peterson, 292 S.C. 149, 355 S.E. 2d 280 (Ct. App.1987) (where the state rule has adopted the language of a federal rule, federal cases interpreting the federal rule are persuasive).

1993) (“Objections to the sufficiency of process must be specific and must point out in what manner the plaintiff has failed to satisfy the service provision utilized.”); Photolab Corp. v. Simplex Specialty Co., 806 F.2d 807, 810 (8th Cir. 1993) (same); Sassower v. City of White Plains, 1993 WL 378862 (S.D.N.Y. 1993) (“Objections to service must be specific and point out in what manner the utilized service of process rules were not satisfied; once done, the burden of proof as to effectiveness of service shifts to plaintiff.”); King v. Best Western Country Inn, 138 F.R.D. 39 (S.D.N.Y. 1993) (same); Charles Alan Wright & Arthur R. Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure Civil 2nd, 1353 (1990) (“The objection to insufficiency of process or its service should point out specifically in what manner plaintiff has failed to satisfy the requirements of the service provision he utilized.”).

One federal case that is particularly instructive is Zisman v. Sieger, 106 F.R.D. 194 (N.D.Ill. 1985). There, after plaintiff’s first attempt at service of a summons and complaint on defendant, a Japanese corporation, the defendant filed a motion to dismiss, arguing that service of process was improper under Illinois law’s provisions for service on foreign corporations. Id. at 197. After obtaining leave of court, plaintiff attempted service a second time. Id. at 196. Defendant responded with a second motion to dismiss, but this time argued that service was improper not under Illinois law, but under the terms of the Hague Convention. Id. at 197. The court found as follows:

The only objection to the first attempted service was that it did not comply with the relevant provisions of Illinois law for service of process on a foreign corporation. [Defendant] could have, but did not raise the issue of compliance with the Hague Convention. If the Hague Convention applies at all, it applied then. If the Hague Convention applies, that first attempted service was insufficient on that basis as well. Failure to raise the objection in the first Rule 12(b) motion constitutes a waiver of the issue under Rule 12(h) and (g). . . .

Rule 12 requires a defendant who wishes to raise jurisdictional defenses to raise them all when he makes his first defensive move. The Rule . . . is intended to eliminate unnecessary delays at the pleading stage of a case by avoiding the piecemeal consideration of pretrial motions. The failure to raise an objection which could have been raised in a previous 12(b) motion constitutes a waiver of that issue.

. . . [B]y failing to raise its objection to service based on the Hague Convention in the previous motion, when that objection was clearly available to it, [defendant] has waived that objection to the sufficiency of service of process. If [defendant] had raised the issue, even generally, in its prior motion, and the second attempted service failed to comply with some particular of the Convention, then [defendant] would not now be barred from asserting that as a defense to the second attempted service.

Id. at 197-98 (internal quotations and citations omitted). The important takeaway from Zisman is that, in order to preserve a defense for insufficient service of process, a defendant must not only raise the defense in its first responsive pleading, but also explain with specificity each reason why service was improper. If a defendant does not include any specific reason, or includes one reason in its initial responsive pleading, but later claims service was improper for a different reason, the argument as to that second reason will be considered waived.

Another federal case, Bobo v. Umoh, 2008 WL 4911222 (W.D. Ark. Nov. 13, 2008), is instructive. There, the defendant answered the plaintiff's complaint and included blanket and unspecific affirmative defenses that the complaint should be dismissed pursuant to Rule 12(b)(4) and 12(b)(5). Defendant then actively litigated the case for nearly two years before filing a motion to dismiss under Rules 12(b)(4) and 12(b)(5), arguing he was never served with the summons and complaint. The court denied the motion, finding that defendant's "generic assertion of the defenses available under Rule 12(b) was insufficient to preserve his objection to plaintiffs' failure to perfect service of process." The court further found that, even if the

defendant “had properly asserted the objection in his answer, his failure to raise the issue by formal motion for nearly two years would serve as a waiver of the issue.”

Here, while Liberty Mutual’s answer in the UIM Action did include the words “improper service,” “Rule 12(b)(4),” and “Rule 12(b)(5)” in an affirmative defense, the answer merely named the defense, to wit, “Plaintiff has failed to effectuate proper service under Rule 12(b)(4) and Rule 12(b)(5).” (R. p. 318). The affirmative defense said no more. It was not specific and did not point out in what manner the rules of service of process were not satisfied, or even *who* was not properly served. Liberty Mutual’s affirmative defense was less specific than the affirmative defense that the South Carolina Court of Appeals deemed invalid in Unisun. There, the affirmative defense at least identified that it was Bruce Hawkins who was not served. Liberty Mutual’s affirmative defense, on the other hand, did not properly raise defenses under Rule 12(b)(4) or 12(b)(5) because it failed to specifically state the reason or reasons the service was flawed, or even on whom service was not accomplished (Ms. Dickenson or Liberty Mutual). (R. p. 318). The answer was filed by Liberty Mutual, not Dickenson, so the natural inference from a defense of “failure to effect proper service” was that Liberty Mutual was not properly served. The pleading did not reasonably put the Appellants or Attorney Coggin on notice that the defense referred to Dickenson or that she was not only not properly served, but she was not served at all. Liberty Mutual’s motion to dismiss argued that it was Dickenson, not Liberty Mutual, who was not served. (R. pp. 320-323). Since the Answer did not properly raise this defense, it was waived and could not be argued in a later dispositive motion. Rule 12(h), SCRPC; Houck, 312 S.C. at 487, 435 S.E. 2d at 850; Unisun, 342 S.C. at 542-43, 537 S.E.2d at 562; Zisman, 106 F.R.D. at 197-98.

This case presents a perfect example of why courts require that Rule 12(b)(4) and 12(b)(5) affirmative defense be pled with specificity in the initial answer. Had Liberty Mutual's answer specified the particular alleged defects with the service of process and who was allegedly not served, Attorney Coggin would have been on notice of those alleged defects and could have timely corrected any problems. Attorney Coggin testified as such in his deposition, by stating that if Liberty Mutual's affirmative defense had at least identified that it was Ms. Dickenson who was allegedly not properly served, he would have further investigated that issue at the time, and had an opportunity to correct any errors in service that he may have discovered. (R. p. 187, Line 3-p.189, Line 2; R. p. 199, Lines 18-22; Gary Coggin Deposition 153:3-155:3; 165:18-22) ("If it said further answering, alleges the Plaintiff had failed to effect proper service under Rule 12(b)(4) and 12(b)(5) on Ms. Dickenson, you're doggone right I would have looked very closely at that."). However, the Answer did not put Attorney Coggin on notice of the actual alleged defect in service, or even who was not served, and those specifics were not raised for over two years, when Liberty Mutual filed the motion to dismiss the UIM Action and after the statute of limitations had run.

Since the motion to dismiss the UIM Action was meritless, because the defenses asserted therein were waived, any breach of the standard of care that Attorney Coggin may have committed if he failed to properly serve Ms. Dickenson with the summons and complaint in the UIM Action did not proximately cause any damages to Appellants. Stated another way, because the motion to dismiss in the UIM Action was completely meritless, the Appellants as a matter of law cannot prove that they "most probably" would have realized a better outcome in the UIM Action had Attorney Coggin not breached the standard of care by allegedly failing to serve Dickenson. Summer v. Carpenter, 328 S.C. at 42, 492 S.E.2d at 58. Since proximate cause is a

matter of law and an essential element of Appellants' legal malpractice claim, this Court should affirm the trial court's granting of Attorney Coggin's Motion for Summary Judgment. Harris Teeter, 390 S.C. at 282, 701 S.E.2d at 745; Howe, 367 S.C. 442, 626 S.E.2d at 30.

B. Even if the Motion to Dismiss the UIM Action was Granted, the UIM Action Still Would Have Survived Because Attorney Coggin Could have Re-served Dickenson, Since the Statute of Limitations Defense had Been Waived in the UIM Action

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